

Patients with ARDS show incomplete restoration of alveolar surface activity upon recombinant SP-C-based surfactant treatment: putative role of neutral lipids

Philipp Markart¹, Clemens Ruppert¹, Malgorzata Wygrecka², Thorsten Colaris³, Bhola Dahal¹, Dieter Walmrath¹, Heinz Harbach³, Jochen Wilhelm¹, Werner Seeger¹, Reinhold Schmidt¹, and Andreas Guenther¹

Departments of ¹Internal Medicine, ²Biochemistry and ³Anaesthesiology, Intensive Care Medicine and Pain Therapy, Faculty of Medicine, University of Giessen Lung Center, Giessen, Germany

Corresponding author:

A. Guenther

Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Giessen Lung Center, Klinikstr. 36, 35392 Giessen, Germany

Phone: +49-641-99-42502; Fax: +49-641-99-42509

e-mail: andreas.guenther@innere.med.uni-giessen.de

Keywords: acute respiratory distress syndrome, acute lung injury, cholesterol, lipids, pulmonary surfactant

Word count 43⁶⁹

Deleted: 54

ABSTRACT

Background: Extensive biochemical and biophysical changes of the pulmonary surfactant system occur in the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS).

Methods: In the present study, we investigated the effect of intrabronchial administration of a recombinant surfactant protein C-based surfactant preparation (Venticute) on gas exchange, surfactant composition and function of 31 ARDS patients, participating in a randomized, controlled, phase I/II clinical pilot trial. Additionally, we identified the potentially deleterious effects of surfactant neutral lipids in ARDS subjects.

Results: Prior to treatment, all ARDS patients displayed marked abnormalities in the surfactant phospholipid and protein composition and possessed dramatically impaired surface activity. In response to surfactant treatment, gas exchange improved and surfactant phospholipid and protein content were virtually normalized, however, surface activity was only partially improved. Further analysis of the bronchoalveolar lavage fluids revealed a two fold increase in neutral lipid content and altered neutral lipid profile in ARDS patients compared to healthy controls. These differences persisted even after administration of large amounts of Venticute. Supplementation of Venticute or natural surfactant with a synthetic neutral lipid preparation, mimicking the profile in ARDS, caused dose-dependent deterioration of surface activity in vitro.

Conclusion: Intrabronchial surfactant treatment improves gas exchange in ARDS, but the efficacy may be limited by increased concentration and altered neutral lipid profile in surfactant under these conditions.

INTRODUCTION

Pulmonary surfactant is a lipoprotein complex consisting of lipids (90 %) and proteins (10 %). Surfactant reduces the alveolar surface tension to near zero mN/m, preventing alveolar collapse and enables gas exchange and alveolar ventilation at physiological transpulmonary pressure gradients.[1] 80-90 % of the lipids are phospholipids. Four surfactant proteins (SP), SP-A, SP-B, SP-C and SP-D, have been identified.[2] Surfactant obtained by bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) can be separated into different subfractions by buoyant density gradient or differential centrifugation. The large surfactant aggregate (LA) fraction, consisting of lamellar bodies, tubular myelin and large multilamellar vesicles, displays excellent biophysical activity *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and represents the precursor fraction of the interfacial surface film. [3-5] In patients with the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), extensive alterations of biochemical and biophysical surfactant properties have been described.[6-8] Additionally, intrabronchial surfactant administration was shown to be beneficial in different ARDS models.[9] Therefore, impaired surfactant function may play a role in the development of gas exchange abnormalities in clinical ARDS. Accordingly, in some recent phase II and phase III clinical trials, surfactant administration in ARDS subjects significantly improved arterial oxygenation [10-12] and surfactant composition.[13-14]

In the present study, we investigated surfactant abnormalities in the BAL fluids of ARDS patients, participating in a randomized, controlled, phase I/II study in Europe/South Africa, addressing the safety and efficacy of a recombinant SP-C-based surfactant (Venticute). Before randomization, profound surfactant abnormalities were encountered, with a marked loss of surface tension lowering properties and severe alterations in phospholipid, fatty acid and surfactant protein composition. In response to surfactant treatment, gas exchange was improved, phospholipid, fatty acid profiles and SP-C content were nearly normalized, however, surface activity was only partially restored. To investigate the underlying

mechanism for this partial restoration, we further analyzed the LA fraction from the BAL fluids. Interestingly, we observed a two-fold increase in the relative amount of neutral lipids in the LA fraction of ARDS patients. Physiologically, neutral lipids represent 10-20 % of the BAL fluid lipids, and about 5 % of the LA lipids. Within the LA fraction, the neutral lipids consist of cholesterol (30-40% of total neutral lipids), free fatty acids (25-30%), cholesterol ester (~12 %), monoglycerides (10-15 %), diglycerides (~14 %), and triglycerides (~8 %). [6, 15] The increased concentration of neutral lipids in the LA fraction of ARDS subjects was still present even after administration of large amounts of Venticute. Moreover, the composition of the neutral lipid fraction was markedly different between ARDS and healthy controls. Reconstitution of Venticute or a natural surfactant preparation with a neutral lipid preparation, mimicking the profile in ARDS subjects, provoked a dose-dependent inhibition of surfactant function in vitro. This effect was already evident at a relative neutral lipid dose found in ARDS patients.

Changes in quantity and composition of the surfactant neutral lipids may thus contribute to the impairment of surface activity and gas exchange abnormalities in ARDS.

METHODS

Study design

Thirty-one patients with ARDS as defined by the American-European Consensus Criteria [16] for a maximum of 120 hours since diagnosis (early ARDS) were investigated. All ARDS patients participated in a randomized, multicenter, controlled, phase I/II pilot study, investigating the safety and efficacy of an intrabronchial administration of a recombinant SP-C-based surfactant (Venticute). Efficacy was assessed by calculating (1) the excess area under the $\text{PaO}_2/\text{FI}_{\text{O}_2}$ curve during the 24 hours after administration of the first drug dose and (2) the number of days with unassisted breathing within the 28-day observation period and comparing these variables among groups. Another objective of the study was to assess BAL recovered from the patients for surfactant components and function.

During a 6-hour baseline period, clinical and respiratory parameters were recorded, and the first BAL (- 3 hours) for surfactant analyses was obtained. Baseline demographic and physiological data for each of the patient groups are shown in Table 1. No significant differences among groups were detected. Values for the modified Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) II score and for baseline positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) and $\text{PaO}_2/\text{FI}_{\text{O}_2}$ values indicate a similar severity of illness among groups.

Table 1

Variable	Group	
	ARDS-standard care	ARDS-surfactant treatment
n	17	14
Age, years	50.5 (43.8-64.0)	50.0 (36.0-58.2)
Sex, m/f, n	12/5	11/3
<u>Ethnic origin, n (%)</u>		
Caucasian	16 (94.1)	12 (85.7)
African	1 (5.9)	1 (7.1)
Asian	0 (0)	1 (7.1)
<u>Predisposing events, n (%)</u>		
Trauma/Surgery	7 (41.2)	7 (50)
Sepsis syndrome	7 (41.2)	6 (42.9)
Pneumonia	5 (29.4)	6 (42.9)
Pancreatitis	2 (11.8)	1 (7.1)
Gastric Aspiration	2 (11.8)	1 (7.1)
Polytransfusion	1 (5.9)	0 (0)
Burn	1 (5.9)	0 (0)
Others	1 (5.9)	0 (0)
Hours from diagnosis to initial treatment	38.0 (21.0-74.0)	23.2 (9.0-53.5)
Modified APACHE II	15.0 (10.8-21.2)	13.0 (10.2-15.8)
PEEP, cm H ₂ O	12 (12-14)	12 (12-12)
PaO ₂ /FI _{O2}	122.5 (96.5-147.8)	126.8 (111.8-152.2)

Table 1**Baseline demographic and physiological data**

Data are presented as median (25-75 percentile). APACHE = Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation.

PEEP = positive end-expiratory pressure. PaO₂/FI_{O2} and PEEP values represent the average of 3 readings over the 6 hour baseline period.

Immediately after the conclusion of the baseline period, patients were prospectively randomized to receive either standard care (ARDS-standard care; n = 17) or standard care plus 1 ml of recombinant SP-C surfactant (containing 1 mg of recombinant SP-C + 50 mg of phospholipid) per kilogram lean body weight given up to four times in 24 hours (ARDS-surfactant; n=14).

BAL was obtained from previously unlavaged lung segments at 48 and 120 hours after the first treatment. Patients were subsequently observed for up to 28 days or until hospital discharge. Additional information of study methods is provided in the online data supplement. As control, 11 healthy volunteers without any history of cardiac or lung disease and with normal pulmonary function were investigated. To investigate the impact of ventilation on the neutral lipid content in the BAL fluid, the relative neutral lipid content in the BAL fluid was also determined in four mechanically ventilated patients suffering from cardiogenic pulmonary edema in the absence of ARDS and lung infection. A comparable disturbance in gas exchange was observed in both, ARDS patients and patients with cardiogenic pulmonary edema ($\text{PaO}_2/\text{FI}_{\text{O}_2}$ ratio: 126 mm Hg in ARDS versus 152 mm Hg in patients with cardiogenic pulmonary edema).

In vitro experiments with neutral lipids and surfactant preparations

Preparation of a rabbit BAL fluid pool

Healthy rabbits of either sex were killed by intravenous application of a lethal dose of pentobarbital/ketanest. A catheter was placed into the trachea and the lungs were lavaged three times with 50 ml 0.9 % NaCl. After filtration of the lavage fluid through sterile gauze and sedimentation of cells (200 x g, 4°C, 10 minutes), supernatants originating from 20 rabbits were pooled and then centrifuged at 48,000 x g (4 °C, 1 hour). The pellet represents the LA fraction and was resuspended in a small volume of 0.9 % NaCl/3 mM CaCl_2 and adjusted to a stock concentration of 2 mg/ml phospholipids.

Recombinant SP-C based surfactant preparation

The recombinant SP-C-based surfactant preparation used for the in vitro experiments was identical to the study drug material and was generously placed at our disposal by ALTANA Pharma AG, Konstanz, Germany. The recombinant SP-C-based surfactant preparation contains dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylglycerol (7:3 wt/wt), enriched with 5 % (wt/wt) palmitic acid and 2 % (wt/wt) recombinant human SP-C. A stock preparation containing 2 mg/ml phospholipids was used.

Neutral lipid preparation

The neutral lipid preparations used for the in vitro experiments were designed to mimick the neutral lipid-profile in ARDS patients and consisted either of 100 % or 50 % unsaturated fatty acids. Increasing amounts of a 1 mg/ml stock solution were dried under nitrogen and resuspended with the rabbit LA pool or the recombinant SP-C surfactant. Details are outlined in the online data supplement.

Surfactant analysis

Isolation of large surfactant aggregates (LA)

BAL fluid from ARDS patients, patients with cardiogenic pulmonary edema, or healthy volunteers was centrifuged at 48,000 x g (4 °C, 1 hour). The resulting pellet, containing the LA fraction, was resuspended in a small volume of 0.9 % NaCl/3 mM CaCl₂ and adjusted to a phospholipid concentration of 2 mg/ml. In parallel experiments, the LA fraction from 7 ARDS patients was further purified by sucrose gradient centrifugation as described in detail previously.[17]

Deleted: e

Phospholipid and fatty acid analysis

Lipids were extracted with chloroform/methanol according to Bligh and Dyer,[18] and the phospholipid content was determined by spectrophotometric measurement of phosphorus.[19] For separation and analysis of phospholipid classes, high-performance thin-layer chromatography (HPTLC) was used as previously described.[7] Similarly, fatty acid profile of phosphatidylcholine was assessed by gas-liquid chromatography as outlined previously.[20]

Determination of neutral lipid content and profile

The amount and relative distribution of neutral lipids was measured by HPTLC and densitometric scanning as previously described,[6] with the following modifications: plates were prerun with chloroform before application of the lipid standards and samples and the staining procedure was performed by 30 minutes incubation of the plates with a 0.1 % (wt/v) aqueous solution of 8-anilino-1-naphthalenesulfonic acid (8-ANSA, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany).

Quantification of surfactant proteins

The content of the surfactant proteins in the BAL fluid was determined by recently described ELISA techniques.[7, 21-23]

Determination of surface activity

Surface tension measurements were performed by means of a pulsating bubble surfactometer (Electronetics, New York, USA) at a phospholipid concentration of 2 mg/ml. Surface tension after 12 seconds of film adsorption (γ_{ads}) and after 5 minutes of film oscillation at minimum bubble radius (γ_{min}) were recorded.

Statistics

Data are given as median and interquartile range. The box-and-whisker-plots indicate the Median, 1st and 3rd Quartile; the whiskers are extended to the most extreme value inside the 1.5-fold interquartile range. Values outside (potential outliers) are indicated by circles. The statistical analyses were performed in R, Version 2.3.1.[24] Deviations from the normal distribution were tested using the Shapiro-Wilk-test. The comparability of data sets to justify a combination was tested with the F-test or multiway-Anova and Wilcoxon rank sum tests. Differences between two groups were tested with the Student's t- and Wilcoxon rank sum test, according to the distribution of the data. Before/after treatment comparisons were performed with paired t-tests and Wilcoxon sign rank tests, respectively. The p-values of multiple comparisons were corrected with the algorithm of Benjamini-Hochberg [25] to control the false-discovery rate. Categorical data was tested for independence in contingency tables employing Fisher's exact test. The distribution of the outcomes between the groups (alive, weaned and alive) was tested using the χ^2 –goodness-of-fit test against the null hypothesis of a uniform distribution. All tests were performed with an undirected hypothesis (two-sided). The level of statistical significance was set at 5%.

Deleted: Before-after-treatment tests were performed unpaired using groupwise-combined values for the baseline to increase the power.

RESULTS

Gas exchange, biochemical and biophysical surfactant properties upon surfactant treatment

Patients with early ARDS were treated up to 4 times by intrabronchial administration of 1 ml recombinant SP-C surfactant (containing 1 mg of recombinant SP-C + 50 mg of phospholipid) per kilogram lean body weight. A significant improvement of Pa_{O_2}/FI_{O_2} ratios at 48 (p = 0.008) and 120 hours (p = 0.0005) after initial treatment was observed (see Table

Deleted: 007

Deleted: 1

2). Also the value for the excess area under the Pa_{O_2}/FI_{O_2} curve during the 24 hours after administration of the first drug dose was higher in the surfactant treatment group as compared to the patients receiving standard care only (402 versus 220 mm Hg · hr; see Table 2 of the online data supplement), however, this difference did not reach statistical significance, probably due to small sample sizes. Further study results are summarized in Table 2 of the online data supplement. In addition to the improvements in gas exchange, surfactant treatment produced a far-reaching restoration of key biochemical surfactant properties (Table 2). In detail, the concentration of phospholipids was markedly increased in total BAL fluid, and the relative amount of the LA fraction was nearly normalized. Moreover, the relative amount of phosphatidylglycerol and the degree of palmitoylation in phosphatidylcholine were both fully normalized upon surfactant application, and the concentration of SP-C in total BAL fluid was highly increased (Table 2). No significant differences in BAL fluid concentrations of SP-A, SP-B or SP-D were detected between the standard care group and the surfactant treatment group (data not shown).

Table 2

	Control	ARDS				
		baseline	Standard care		Surfactant treatment	
			+48hours	+120hours	+48hours	+120hours
LA [% of PL]	79.1 (70.5-86.5)	45.4 (28.8-53.2)	27.4 (23.2-52.2)	30.5 (25.8-31.10)	73.5 (68.3-77.2)** ↓	64.2 (55.3-75.2) ↓
					Deleted: **	
PL [µg/ml]	23.5 (17.2-29.8)	25.6 (14.5-44.6)	30.4 (15.2-42.1)	17.0 (9.6-25.4)	185.0 (44.8-230.0)** ↓	48.4 (31.6-78.1) ↓
					Deleted: *	Deleted: *
PC [% of total PL]	80.0 (79.0-82.3)	77.9 (70.3-81.6)	81.1 (73.2-83.1)	81.9 (80.6-85.3)	77.6 (68.1-83.5)	72.9 (66.6-78.1)
PG [% of total PL]	11.8 (11.3-12.7)	1.6 (1.2-2.6)	1.9 (0.7-5.5)	2.1 (0.8-2.3)	15.7 (8.9-21.8)** ↓	6.8 (5.3-13.7)* ↓
					Deleted: *	Deleted: *
Palmitic acid [% of PC fatty acids]	74.2 (71.4-77.1)	53.6 (44.8-59.2)	52.6 (50.3-57.4)	57.8 (56.3-59.2)	85.6 (77.8-89.4)** ↓	84.1 (78.5-84.2)** ↓
					Deleted: *	Deleted: *
SP-C [ng/ml]	494.9 (397.0-601.0)	350.2 (216.4-724.3)	437.0 (250.0-657.0)	436.0 (284.0-760.0)	1970.0 (770.0-2490.0)** ↓	717.0 (290.0-1160.0) ↓
					Deleted: *	
PaO ₂ /FIO ₂ [mmHG]	461.0 (446.0-469.0)	126.5 (103-149.7)	134.0 (94.1-164.0)	156.0 (85.0-215.0)	143.0 (138.0-182.0)**	212.0 (156.0-250.0)***

Table 2

Biochemical surfactant properties and gas exchange in healthy controls and ARDS patients receiving either standard care or additional surfactant treatment

Data are given for healthy controls and for ARDS patients before (baseline; -3 hours), 48 and 120 hours after intrabronchial administration of recombinant SP-C-based surfactant (n=14), and for ARDS patients receiving standard care only (n= 17). Biochemical data are given for the total lavage fluid. The baseline $\text{Pa}_{\text{O}_2}/\text{FI}_{\text{O}_2}$ value represents the average of three readings over the 6 hour baseline period. LA=large surfactant aggregate fraction; PL = phospholipids; PC = phosphatidylcholine; PG = phosphatidylglycerol; SP-C = surfactant protein C. Data are presented as median (25-75 percentile). Significance level is indicated by * $p < 0.05$; ** $p < 0.01$; *** $p < 0.001$ (pre versus post treatment)

In contrast to the complete normalization of the phospholipid and fatty acid profiles, surface tension values after 5 minutes film oscillation (γ_{min} , Figure 1) and after 12 seconds film adsorption (γ_{ads} , data not shown) were significantly improved in the patients receiving surfactant treatment ($p = 0.02$ at 48 hours, $p = 0.04$ at 120 hours), however, not to values observed for healthy subjects. This observation was made in LA obtained by either high speed centrifugation (as depicted in Fig. 1) or by sucrose gradient centrifugation (data not shown).

Deleted: 13

Deleted: 22

Neutral lipid content and profile of the LA fraction

To investigate the underlying mechanism for the partial restoration of surface activity, we further analyzed the LA fraction from the BAL fluids for neutral lipid levels and profiles. Compared to healthy controls, the relative amount of neutral lipids within the LA fraction was significantly increased in the initial BAL fluid samples of the ARDS patients at baseline ($p = 0.0005$), and no major changes were noted over the subsequent 120 hour observation period, regardless of whether the patients received standard care only ($p = 0.0007$ at 48 hours) or standard care plus Venticute ($p = 0.013$ at 48 hours, $p = 0.0007$ at 120 hours; Figure 2). Taking into consideration the absolute amount of phospholipids in the BAL fluid and the relative LA content, the concentration of LA-related neutral lipids was 11.1 (2.1-19.2) $\mu\text{g}/\text{ml}$ (median and interquartile range) 48 hours after surfactant treatment and 2.7 (1.4-6.5) $\mu\text{g}/\text{ml}$

120 hours after treatment and thus several-fold elevated in the ARDS-surfactant group as compared to the pre-treatment data (baseline) and the ARDS-standard care group. Analogous data were obtained when the LA fraction was analyzed after isolation by sucrose gradient centrifugation (data not depicted). In contrast, in mechanically ventilated patients with cardiogenic pulmonary edema, the relative amount of neutral lipids within the LA fraction (% of phospholipids) was unaltered compared to healthy controls (6.1 (5.4-7.6) % versus 5.9 (5.2-7.1) %; median and interquartile range). In addition to the increased neutral lipid levels in ARDS patients, changes in the neutral lipid profile were also observed. At baseline, the relative contents of cholesterol, diglycerides and triglycerides were significantly increased (all $p < 0.001$), whereas free fatty acids and cholesteroesters were decreased (all $p < 0.001$;

Deleted:

Figure 3). Forty-eight hours after randomization, the percentages of cholesterol and free fatty acids approached those in healthy controls, whereas other neutral lipids remained at baseline concentrations (Figure 3). There was no major difference in the neutral lipid composition between the ARDS-surfactant group and the ARDS-standard care group, with the exception of a slightly higher amount of free fatty acids (putatively based on the application of free palmitic acid contained in the recombinant SP-C surfactant) at the expense of the cholesterol fraction in the ARDS-surfactant group.

Deleted: 48

Impact of neutral lipids on the surface activity of different surfactant preparations in vitro

Next, we investigated the potential impact of neutral lipid mixtures, mimicking the neutral lipid profile in ARDS patients, on the surface activity of different surfactant preparations. Addition of increasing amounts of a completely unsaturated neutral lipid mixture to the recombinant SP-C surfactant or to a natural rabbit LA preparation resulted in a dose-dependent increase of γ_{min} to almost 20 mN/m in both surfactant preparations (Figure 4).

Deleted: A

γ_{ads} values were only slightly increased in presence of increasing amounts of neutral lipids

([Figure 1 of the online data supplement](#)). A neutral lipid mixture consisting of 50%

unsaturated fatty acids exhibited a similar inhibitory effect on the biophysical activity of the

recombinant SP-C surfactant (Figure 4 and [Figure 1 of the online data supplement](#)). In order

to more precisely define the putative surfactant inhibitory effect of each component of the

neutral lipid mixtures, we investigated the influence of increasing amounts of single neutral

lipids on the surface activity of the recombinant SP-C surfactant. Diglycerides and to a lesser

degree free fatty acids showed a marked inhibitory effect on the γ_{min} values (Figure 5).

Interestingly, two different neutral lipids, monoglycerides and cholesterol, were the most

effective in inhibiting the γ_{ads} values ([Figure 2 of the online data supplement](#)).

Deleted: Figure 4B

Deleted: s

Deleted: A

Deleted: 4B

Deleted: A

Deleted: Figure 5B

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated the effect of intrabronchial administration of a recombinant SP-C-based surfactant (Venticute) on gas exchange, surfactant composition and function of 31 ARDS patients. All patients participated in a randomized, controlled, multicenter phase I/II study in Europe/South Africa, addressing the safety and efficacy of this surfactant preparation in ARDS. This study was performed in parallel to an almost identical trial in North America.[13] In full accordance with some former studies, a significant improvement of gas exchange in the early time course after surfactant administration was encountered. At baseline, the BAL fluid concentrations of total phospholipids, phosphatidylglycerol and SP-C, the relative amount of the LA fraction and the degree of palmitoylation in phosphatidylcholine were all significantly decreased in ARDS patients. Following administration of the recombinant SP-C surfactant all parameters were virtually fully normalized, which paralleled the improvement of gas exchange. Surfactant treatment favorably decreased the highly elevated minimum surface tension values of the LA fraction, however, values were still clearly higher than the ranges normally observed in healthy controls. As the applied material *per se* is known to possess excellent surface activity and additionally the far-reaching normalization of biochemical parameters implies that the exogenous surfactant material successfully merged with the endogenous pool, there are only a few possible explanations for the limited improvement of surface activity in response to surfactant administration:

Firstly, it could be argued that inhibitors of surfactant function, in particular plasma proteins such as fibrin(ogen),[26] are largely responsible for the incomplete restoration of surface activity upon surfactant treatment. However, we have employed two different techniques, high speed centrifugation and sucrose gradient centrifugation, to isolate the LA fraction from

BAL fluid, thereby separating the LA fraction from proteinaceous material and other inhibitors. Protein recovery in the LA fraction was 2.7 % upon 48,000 x g centrifugation [7] and < 0.5 % in case of sucrose gradient centrifugation [data not depicted]. As the surface activity of the LA fraction obtained from both methods was identically deteriorated and as there was no appreciable contamination of the lipid fraction with lysoPC, platelet-activating factor (PAF) or proteins, we think that inhibitory phenomena are not likely to explain the incomplete restoration of surface activity of the LA fraction. Nevertheless, we would anticipate that the “true” alveolar surface tension of ARDS patients, both, before and after surfactant treatment, is higher due to the presence of these inhibitors, as suggested in previous reports.[7, 14]

Secondly, it may be argued that lack of SP-B was responsible for the incomplete improvement of surface activity. Against this assumption are numerous studies that have shown SP-C-based surfactants such as the recombinant SP-C surfactant reach similar low surface tension values in vitro and similar efficacy in vivo as compared to natural surfactant extracts containing both hydrophobic surfactant proteins.[27-29] Nevertheless, this issue may be of some importance in the presence of inhibitors, where SP-B-based surfactants have been shown to display better surface activity as compared to SP-C-based surfactants.[27-28] However, as discussed above, the isolated LA fractions were almost completely separated from potential inhibitors. Therefore, we think that this issue is not of major importance.

Thirdly, direct damage to surfactant-specific proteins, probably by proteolysis, has been previously demonstrated in lungs of ARDS patients.[30] We have demonstrated a significant increase in SP-C levels in the BAL fluids of ARDS patients upon surfactant treatment (p =

0.003 at 48 hours), nevertheless it can not be completely excluded that some of this exogenously administered protein is degraded due to the action of activated

Deleted: 0

Deleted: 4

polymorphonuclear neutrophils [30], and this may contribute to the limited improvement of surface activity in response to surfactant treatment.

Deleted: e

Fourthly, in the LA fraction of ARDS subjects there was a marked increased in neutral lipids.

In contrast, no significant difference between the neutral lipid content in the BAL fluids of mechanically ventilated patients with cardiogenic pulmonary edema and healthy controls was

Deleted: e

observed. These findings indicate that mechanical ventilation per se is not responsible for the observed changes in neutral lipid content in the lungs of ARDS patients. The recombinant SP-

C surfactant used in this study contains free palmitic acid at a relative concentration of 5%.

Assuming that most of the material reached the distal lung after administration, one may anticipate a reduction of the neutral lipid content of the LA fraction to values close to 5%.

Instead, the neutral lipid content remained elevated after surfactant treatment. Additionally, the neutral lipid profile, which was significantly altered at baseline, was only marginally

affected by treatment with the recombinant SP-C surfactant. As such an increase in neutral lipids may have disadvantageous effects on surface tension, we analyzed changes in surface

activity of different surfactant preparations when supplemented with a synthetic neutral lipid mixture mimicking the neutral lipid profile of ARDS patients. This resulted in a dose-

Deleted:

dependent impairment of surface activity above a neutral lipid to phospholipid ratio of 0.05.

Neutral lipids have been known for a long time to be an integral component of the pulmonary surfactant system. They are actively secreted within the lamellar bodies from type II cells,[1]

but their precise role within the surfactant system is still unclear. In particular, data are scarce in view of the regulation and role of neutral lipids in acute respiratory failure. Alveolar

Deleted: under conditions of

cholesterol was found to be increased in some animal models of acute lung injury,[31] but

neutral lipids have never been investigated in ARDS patients. Recently, it has been demonstrated that cholesterol plays a critical role in promoting the lateral organization of

Deleted: within the frame of

bilayer membranes made of native pulmonary surfactant.[32] Furthermore, neutral lipids such as cholesterol enhance adsorption at the air-water interface and also improve film respreading of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine or more complex phospholipid films, thus improving surface activity.[33-35] However, neutral lipids were much less effective in enhancing adsorption compared to the hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C.[33] In oscillating bubble studies, in contrast to mixtures of phospholipids and hydrophobic surfactant proteins, a protein-free mixture consisting of phospholipids and neutral lipids never reached a minimum surface tension of less than 20 mN/m.[34] Furthermore, investigations with the pulsating bubble surfactometer showed that the addition of cholesterol to different surfactant preparations can impair the surface tension lowering ability upon bubble pulsation and may destabilize surface films upon maximum compression.[36] Finally, all of the preceding studies have been undertaken employing "physiological" neutral lipid concentrations (~ 5% neutral lipids wt/wt of phospholipids). Higher neutral lipid concentrations, as reported for the first time in this study of ARDS patients, have not yet been investigated in detail. The present findings suggest that an increased and "non-physiologically" composed neutral lipid fraction within the LA fraction may cause instability of the interfacial surfactant film upon lateral film compression, with increased minimum surface tension values. This interpretation is reinforced by our finding that especially the minimum surface tension values obtained under cyclic surface area changes were increased, whereas adsorption remained largely unchanged upon neutral lipid supplementation.

Deleted: PL

The source of increased neutral lipids and altered composition in ARDS is presently unknown. One possibility is due to altered synthesis or secretion by type II cells. Alternatively, changes may be due to spillover of neutral lipids from the systemic circulation via a leaky endothelial and epithelial barrier. However, the plasma neutral lipid profile is characterized by a large amount of cholesterol ester (46 %) and triglycerides (30 %), whereas only traces of free fatty acids, monoglycerides and diglycerides can be detected.[37] The

plasma neutral lipid profile is thus strikingly different from the neutral lipid profile in the LA fraction, regardless of whether the LA fraction was obtained by high speed centrifugation or further purified from blood contaminants by sucrose gradient centrifugation. Thus, “contamination” by plasma derived neutral lipids seems to be unlikely. Moreover, if the type II cell is indeed the main source of increased neutral lipids in ARDS, our observation of a persistently elevated neutral lipid content despite application of large amounts of exogenous surfactant material would suggest the existence of a mechanism that maintains a particular neutral lipid /phospholipid ratio in the acutely injured lung.

Deleted: under conditions o

Deleted: r

Deleted: ARDS

We conclude that increased levels and an altered neutral lipid profile may contribute to the impairment of surface activity in ARDS. Remarkably, neutral lipid abnormalities of the LA fraction were found to persist even after intrabronchial surfactant administration and may prevent full normalization of the alveolar surface tension upon surfactant treatment. Further studies are necessary to address the mechanisms underlying the disturbances of surfactant neutral lipid homeostasis in ARDS. One implication of this study would be to test if neutral lipid -free exogenous surfactant preparations are more suitable for the treatment of ARDS.

COMPETING INTERESTS

W. Seeger receives grant and contract support and fees for consulting services by the following companies: Schering AG, Pfizer Ltd., Altana Pharma AG, Lung Rx, Myogen. None of the other authors has any financial relationship with a commercial entity that has an interest in the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all European/South African Clinical Centers that participated in the Venticute[®] phase I/II trial. We would like to thank Leigh Marsh for proofreading the manuscript.

Deleted: [®]

FUNDING

This study was supported by: Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG), SFB 547, SCHM

1524/2-1, A~~LTANA~~ Pharma AG, Konstanz, Germany

Deleted: ltana

ETHICS APPROVAL

The study was approved by local institutional review boards/ethics committees at each participating institution and informed consent was obtained from all patients or their legal representatives.

COPYRIGHT

The Corresponding Author has the right to grant on behalf of all authors and does grant on behalf of all authors, an exclusive licence (or non exclusive for government employees) on a worldwide basis to the BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and its Licensees to permit this article (if accepted) to be published in [THORAX] editions and any other BMJPGl Ltd products and sublicences such use and exploit all subsidiary rights, as set out in the licence.

REFERENCES

1. Harwood JL. Lung surfactant. *Prog Lipid Res* 1987;**26**:211-256.
2. Possmayer F. A proposed nomenclature for pulmonary surfactant-associated proteins. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1988;**138**:990-998.
3. Magoon MW, Wright JR, Baritussio A, *et al.* Subfractionation of lung surfactant. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1983;**750**:18-31.
4. Gross NJ, Narine KR. Surfactant subtypes in mice: characterization and quantitation. *J Appl Physiol* 1989;**66**:342-349.
5. Veldhuizen RA, Hearn SA, Lewis JF, *et al.* Surface-area cycling of different surfactant preparations: SP-A and SP-B are essential for large-aggregate integrity. *Biochem J* 1994;**300**:519-524.
6. Guenther A, Schmidt R, Feustel A, *et al.* Surfactant subtype conversion is related to loss of surfactant apoprotein B and surface activity in the large surfactant aggregates - experimental and clinical studies. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999;**159**:244-251.
7. Guenther A, Siebert C, Schmidt R, *et al.* Surfactant alterations in severe pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and cardiogenic lung edema. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996;**153**:176-184.
8. Hallman M, Spragg R, Harrell JH, *et al.* Evidence of lung surfactant abnormality in respiratory failure. Study of bronchoalveolar lavage phospholipids, surface activity, phospholipase activity, and plasma myoinositol. *J Clin Invest* 1982;**70**:673-683.
9. Lewis J, Ikegami M, Higuchi R, *et al.* Nebulized vs. instilled exogenous surfactant in an adult lung injury model. *J Appl Physiol* 1991;**71**:1270-1276.

Formatted: English (U.S.)

10. Gregory TJ, Steinberg KP, Spragg R, *et al.* Bovine surfactant therapy for patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1997;**155**:1309-1315.
11. Spragg RG, Lewis JF, Walmrath HD, *et al.* Effect of recombinant surfactant protein C-based surfactant on the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 2004;**351**:884-892.
12. Walmrath D, Grimminger F, Pappert D, *et al.* Bronchoscopic administration of bovine natural surfactant in ARDS and septic shock: impact on gas exchange and haemodynamics. *Eur Respir J* 2002;**19**:805-810.
13. Spragg RG, Lewis JF, Wurst W, *et al.* Treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome with recombinant surfactant protein C surfactant. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2003;**167**:1562-1566.
14. Guenther A, Schmidt R, Harodt J, *et al.* Bronchoscopic administration of bovine natural surfactant in ARDS and septic shock: impact on biophysical and biochemical surfactant properties. *Eur Respir J* 2002;**19**:797-804.
15. Swendsen CL, Skita V, Thrall RS. Alterations in surfactant neutral lipid composition during the development of bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1996;**1301**:90-96.
16. Bernard GR, Artigas A, Brigham KL, *et al.* The American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS : definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1994;**149**:818-824.
17. Taeusch HW, de la Serna JB, Perez-Gil J, *et al.* Inactivation of pulmonary surfactant due to serum-inhibited adsorption and reversal by hydrophilic polymers: experimental. *Biophys J* 2005;**89**:1769-1779.
18. Bligh EG, Dyer WJ. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. *Can J Med Sci* 1959;**37**:911-917.

Formatted: English (U.K.)

Formatted: French (France)

Field Code Changed

19. Rouser G, Fleischer S, Yamamoto A. Two-dimensional thin layer chromatographic separation of polar lipids and determination of phospholipids by phosphorus analysis of spots. *Lipids* 1970;**5**:494-496.
20. Schmidt R, Meier U, Yabut-Perez M, *et al.* Alteration of fatty acid profiles in different pulmonary surfactant phospholipids in acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and severe pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;**163**:95-100.
21. Kraemer HJ, Schmidt R, Guenther A, *et al.* ELISA technique for quantification of surfactant protein B (SP-B) in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1995;**152**:1540-1544.
22. Schmidt R, Steinhilber W, Ruppert C, *et al.* An ELISA technique for quantification of surfactant apoprotein (SP)-C in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002;**165**:470-474.
23. Strong P, Kishore U, Morgan C, *et al.* A novel method of purifying lung surfactant proteins A and D from the lung lavage of alveolar proteinosis patients and from pooled amniotic fluid. *J Immunol Methods* 1998;**220**:139-149.
24. R Development Core Team. *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria 2006. ISBN 3-900051-07-0.
25. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J R Stat Soc* 1995;**57**:289-300.
26. Seeger W, Stoehr G, Wolf HRD, *et al.* Alteration of surfactant function due to protein leakage: special interaction with fibrin monomer. *J Appl Physiol* 1985;**58**:326-338.
27. Seeger W, Gunther A, Thede C. Differential sensitivity to fibrinogen inhibition of SP-C versus SP-B-based surfactants. *Am J Physiol* 1992;**261**:286-291.

Formatted: English (U.K.)

Formatted: German (Germany)

28. Seeger W, Thede C, Gunther A, *et al.* Surface properties and sensitivity to protein-inhibition of a recombinant apoprotein C-based phospholipid mixture in vitro – comparison to natural surfactant. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1991;**1081**:45-52.
29. Hafner D, Germann PG, Hauschke D. Effects of rSP-C surfactant on oxygenation and histology in a rat-lung-lavage model of acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998;**158**:270-278.
30. Baker CS, Evans TW, Randle BJ, *et al.* Damage to surfactant-specific protein in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Lancet* 1999;**353**:1232-1237.
31. Panda AK, Nag K, Harbottle RR, *et al.* Effect of acute lung injury on structure and function of pulmonary surfactant films. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2004;**30**:641-650.
32. Bernardino de la Serna J, Perez-Gil J, Simonsen AC, *et al.* Cholesterol rules: direct observation of the coexistence of two fluid phases in native pulmonary surfactant membranes at physiological temperatures. *J Biol Chem* 2004;**279**:40715-40722.
33. Wang Z, Hall SB, Notter RH. Roles of different hydrophobic constituents in the adsorption of pulmonary surfactant. *J Lipid Res* 1996;**37**:790-798.
34. Wang Z, Hall SB, Notter RH. Dynamic surface activity of films of lung surfactant phospholipids, hydrophobic proteins, and neutral lipids. *J Lipid Res* 1995;**36**:1283-1293.
35. Fleming BD, Keough KMW. Surface respreading after collapse of monolayers containing major lipids of pulmonary surfactant. *Chem Phys Lipids* 1988;**49**:81-86.
36. Yu SH, Possmayer F. Effect of pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) and calcium on the adsorption of cholesterol and film stability. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1994;**1211**:350-358.

37. Mead JF, Alfin-Slater RB, Howton DR, *et al.* Transport and Reactions of Lipids in the Blood. In: *Lipids: Chemistry, Biochemistry and Nutrition*. Plenum Press, New York and London; 1986:273-284.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1

Influence of intrabronchial surfactant administration on biophysical surfactant properties in ARDS patients

The surface tension after 5 minutes of film oscillation at minimum bubble radius (γ min) of the LA fraction obtained by high speed centrifugation of healthy controls and ARDS patients at a phospholipid concentration of 2 mg/ml is displayed. Data are given for ARDS patients before randomization (-3 hours = baseline), 48 and 120 hours after intrabronchial administration of 1 ml recombinant SP-C surfactant (containing 1 mg of recombinant SP-C + 50 mg of phospholipid) per kilogram lean body weight given up to 4 times (surfactant), and for patients receiving standard care only (standard). The box-and-whisker-plots indicate the Median, 1st and 3rd Quartile; the whiskers are extended to the most extreme value inside the 1.5-fold interquartile range. Values outside (potential outliers) are indicated by circles.

Significance level is indicated by * $p = 0.02$ (at 48 hours) and $p = 0.04$ (at 120 hours; all versus baseline values)

Deleted: 13

Deleted: 22

Figure 2

Neutral lipid content of the large surfactant aggregate (LA) fraction of healthy controls and ARDS patients

The content of neutral lipids (% of phospholipids, wt/wt) in the LA fraction obtained by high speed centrifugation of healthy controls, of ARDS patients before (-3 hours = baseline) and after intrabronchial administration of 1 ml recombinant SP-C surfactant (containing 1 mg of recombinant SP-C + 50 mg of phospholipid) per kilogram lean body weight given up to 4 times, and of ARDS patients receiving standard care only is given. The box-and-whisker-plots indicate the Median, 1st and 3rd Quartile; the whiskers are extended to the most extreme value

inside the 1.5-fold interquartile range. Significance level is indicated by * $p = 0.013$; *** $p = 0.0005$ (baseline) and $p = 0.0007$ (standard treatment at 48 hours and surfactant treatment at 120 hours; all versus healthy controls). NL = neutral lipids; PL = phospholipids

Figure 3

Neutral lipid profile of the large surfactant aggregate (LA) fraction of healthy controls and ARDS patients

The content of different neutral lipid classes (% of total neutral lipids, wt/wt) in the LA fraction obtained by high speed centrifugation of healthy controls, of ARDS patients before treatment (- 3 hours = baseline) and of ARDS patients receiving standard care or additional treatment with 1 ml recombinant SP-C surfactant (containing 1 mg of recombinant SP-C + 50 mg of phospholipid) per kilogram lean body weight given up to 4 times at 48 hours after initial treatment is given. The box-and-whisker-plots indicate the Median, 1st and 3rd Quartile; the whiskers are extended to the most extreme value inside the 1.5-fold interquartile range. Significance level is indicated by * $p < 0.05$; ** $p < 0.01$; *** $p < 0.001$; (ARDS patients pre or post standard or surfactant treatment versus healthy controls). MG=monoglycerides; DG=diglycerides; Chol= cholesterol; FFA=free fatty acids; TG=triglycerides ; C-E=cholesterolester; NL = neutral lipids

Figure 4

Influence of neutral lipids on the surface activity of a recombinant SP-C-based surfactant preparation and of the large surfactant aggregate (LA) fraction of natural rabbit lung surfactant

A neutral lipid mixture containing 100 % unsaturated neutral lipids and mimicking the neutral lipid profile in ARDS patients was added in increasing amounts (0-25 % of phospholipids, wt/wt) to 2 mg/ml of a recombinant SP-C surfactant (squares) and to 2 mg/ml of the LA fraction of natural rabbit lung surfactant (circles). Furthermore, a neutral lipid mixture containing 50 % unsaturated neutral lipids was added in increasing amounts to recombinant SP-C surfactant (triangles). The surface tension values after 5 minutes of film oscillation at minimum bubble radius (γ_{\min}) are given. Data are given as median. n = 8 for each concentration. NL = neutral lipids; PL = phospholipids.

Deleted: , Figure 4A

Deleted: and after 12 seconds film adsorption (γ_{ads} , Figure 4B)

Figure 5

Influence of single neutral lipids on the surface activity of a recombinant SP-C-based surfactant preparation

Single neutral lipids were added in increasing amounts (0-15 % of phospholipids, wt/wt) to 2 mg/ml of the recombinant SP-C surfactant. The surface tension values after 5 minutes of film oscillation at minimum bubble radius (γ_{\min}) are given. Data are given as median. n = 8 for each concentration

Deleted: , Figure 5A

Deleted: and after 12 seconds film adsorption (γ_{ads} , Figure 5B)

Monoglycerides (diamonds); diglycerides (up triangles); cholesterol (circles); free fatty acids (down triangles); triglycerides (stars); cholesterol ester (squares); NL = neutral lipids; PL = phospholipids.

